IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE JAMES HODGES,	
Appellant,	
v.	CASE NO. 1D09-468
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 271543 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8517

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

WILLIE JAMES HODGES, was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as either "appellant," "defendant," or by his proper name.

References to the Record(i.e. the transcript of the trial) on Appeal will be by the volume number in Arabic numbers followed by the appropriate page number, all in parentheses. References to the Record proper will be by the letter "R," while those to the trial transcript will be by the letter "T."

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Escambia County on December 17, 2003 charged Willie Hodges with one count of first-degree murder with a knife or other sharp instrument (1 R 1). Along with the indictment, the State filed a notice that it intended to seek a death sentence if Hodges were convicted as charged (1 R 21).

Hodges and the State then filed several motions or notices related to either the guilt or the penalty phases of the trial. The following have relevance to this appeal:

- 1. Motion to Bar imposition of Death Sentence on Basis that Florida's Capital Sentencing Procedure is Unconstitutional under Ring v. Arizona (1 R 35). Denied (10 R 1925).
- 2. Motion to Bar Imposition of Death Penalty because the defendant is mentally retarded (1 R 123). Denied (6 R 1185).
- 3. Motion in Limine to preclude introducing evidence in the guilt phase of the trial that Hodges is mentally retarded (6 R 1187). Granted (9 R 1793).
- 4. Notice of Proof of Other Offenses (2 R 246, 253, 270, 313). Granted in part, denied in part (6 R 1181)
- 5. Motion to Declare §921.141(1), Florida Statutes Unconstitutional and to Bar State's Use of Hearsay Evidence at Penalty Phase Proceedings (7 R 1227).
- 6. Motion for Findings of Fact by the Jury (8 R 1490). Denied (11 R 2178-79).
- 7. Motion for Psychiatric Examination of Defendant prior to Penalty Phase (9 R 1634). Granted (10 R 1856, 1859).

Hodges proceeded to trial before Judge Terry Terrell, and the jury, after hearing the evidence, arguments, and instructions on the law, found the defendant

guilty as charged (11 R 2397). He proceeded to the penalty phase of the trial where additional evidence was presented. The jury, after hearing it and the instructions on the law, recommended death by a vote of 10-2 (13 R 2399).

The court, following that recommendation, imposed a sentence of death.

Justifying that punishment, it found in aggravation:

- 1. Hodges was on parole from Ohio at the time of the murder. Great weight.
- 2. Hodges has two prior convictions for felony for violent felonies. Moderate weight.
- 3. Hodges was engaged in a robbery, sexual battery or burglary. Great weight.
- 4. Hodges committed the murder for pecuniary gain. Moderate weight.
- 5. Hodges committed the murder in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner. Great weight.

(17 R 3191-96)

The court rejected the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator because of the lack of evidence (17 R 3197).

In mitigation, the court found:

A. Minimal weight

- 1. Hodges ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired (16 R 3148).
- 2. Hodges has a mental or emotional age of 10-12 (16 R 3149).
- 3. Hodges's parents had a violent relationship (16 R 3151)
- 4. Hodges may have acted in an emotional rage (16 R 3152).
- B. Minimal weight because the mitigating evidence does not consider adaptive behaviors
 - 1. Hodges is incapable of abstract reasoning (16 R 3151-52).

- 2. Hodges has memory problems (16 R 3152).
- 3. Hodges has the primitive moral judgment of a child (16 R 3152).
- 4. Hodges has neuropsychological brain dysfunction (16 R 3152).

C. Moderate weight

- 1. Hodges is "undeniably" impulsive (16 R 3150).
- 2. Hodges undeniably has a history of substance abuse (16 R 3154)
- D. Moderate weight because the mitigating evidence does not consider adaptive behaviors
 - 1. Hodges has poor educational skills (16 R 3153).
 - 2. Hodges has a family history of mental illness (16 R 3156).

E. Rejected as mitigation:

1. Hodges suffers from Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (16 R 3155).

This appeal follows. The State filed a notice of cross-appeal challenging the court's rejection of the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator, and its refusal to let a police officer testify during the penalty phase about the facts of a prior robbery (17 R 3275).

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Guilt phase

About 10 a.m. on December 19, 2001, Patricia Belanger's family was to pick her up from her house and take her to the airport where they would fly to Idaho to spend the Christmas holidays with one of her children (5 T 817). Her daughter and husband and her children stopped at the house on Clio Drive in Pensacola, and the daughter went to the front door to go inside, but the door was locked (4 T 687; 5 T 818). Using a key she had she unlocked the door, but it would not open (5 T 818). She tried the back door, and it was locked as well, and all the windows were shut (5 T 819). As she walked around the house, she saw her mother's keys hanging in the door to the shop, which was next to the house. She went to one of the doors of the house and began banging on it and hollering. She heard a large crash, ran around to where it came from, and saw someone running wearing a blue and gray coat (4 T 716; 5 T 821). The person was hunched over like a football player carrying something (4 T 722; 8 T 822). He ran across Ms. Belanger's yard, jumped a fence, ran through another yard, and disappeared into some nearby woods (5 T 821).

1

¹ The purse Ms. Belanger had that contained ID and "things" that one would normally take on a trip was never found (5 T 828).

The police were called, and shortly a K-9 unit appeared and began to track the person who had fled the house. The dog handler found a picture album (the type found in wallets) outside the house, near the window the person had broken to escape (4 T 729; 5 T 953).² As they followed his trail, the dog also alerted on two socks, a shoe, a blue and gray jacket, and some footprints before losing the scent (4 T 729-32). A steak knife, unlike any Ms. Belanger owned and a belt not belonging to her were also found outside near the window (4 T 779; 5 T 825).

Inside, Ms. Belanger's body was found with her pants and panties pulled down and a jacket "of some sort" wrapped around her head (4 T 719)

Ms. Belanger suffered numerous cuts, abrasions, and blows. She had two severe wounds to the head consistent with being hit by a hammer (9 T 1760, 1771). Her neck had a 4 inch cut but it was not so deep as to puncture her carotid artery or jugular vein (9 T 1763). Another wound to her neck did cut the jugular vein (9 T 1764)

She had no injuries to her vagina, but she had two quarter inch tears to her rectum (9 T 1771). She also had some bruises and abrasions about her face, and

² No wallet was found (6T 1036).

³ A claw hammer was found next to her body (4 T 719).

some defensive type wounds on one of her forearms (9 T 1769-70). The blows to the head and the knife wounds could have each caused her death (9 T 1777).

In 2003, Hodges told a fellow inmate at the Escambia County jail that he had broken into a house next door to where one of his relatives lived to burglarize or "rob" it (6 T 1085). He killed the woman inside, and while there someone knocked on the front door. He jumped out of a side window, over a fence, and ran through a pond, all the while taking off his clothes (6 T 1086-87). He also told this inmate about another murder he had "caught I guess in the early nineties or whatever" in Ohio, but the cellmate could recall nothing about it (6T 1092-93).

B. The Cincinnati Murder

As part of its case, and over strong defense objection, the State presented evidence that Hodges had murdered 80 or 81 year old LaVerne Jansen in Cincinnati on March 19, 2003 (8 T 1419). She lived in an apartment, and on that day one of her neighbors saw a black man knock on her door. She heard him tell her to shut up and then he forced her to the floor (7 T 1245). The police were called and when they showed up, they found Ms. Jansen's body with "some type of shirt on top" and a scarf or blanket on the lower part of her body (7 T 1265). Although the police searched her apartment for her purse or wallet they found neither. In June, the wallet with her identification was found in some woods (7 T

1326). No one ever pawned any of Ms. Jansen's jewelry, nor did anyone ever use any of her credit cards after her death (7 T 1325, 1328).

She had been vaginally sexually battered and strangled (8 T 1421-22). She had a stab wound in her chest that penetrated her heart and a less significant incision on her neck which caused some bleeding but which did not cut her jugular artery (8 T 1425, 1425-27). Her nose was broken, and she had some other abrasions and bruises on her face (8 T 1430-31). There was evidence of a bite mark about six inches from her vagina (8 T 1432), which a forensic dentist said that Hodges had made (8 T 1525). None of the defendant's fingerprints or semen was found at the crime scene or on Ms. Jansen's body (7 T 1341, 1345).

By stipulation, evidence was presented that Hodges had stayed at a Drop-In Center, a homeless shelter, in Cincinnati on March 21, 2003, and had pawned items at a local pawn shop on March 17 and 18, 2003 (6T 1159, 7 T 1285, 1374).

A jail inmate said that Hodges had told him he had killed woman in Ohio sometime in the "early nineties or whatever." (6T 1092)

C. Penalty phase

As part of its penalty phase case, the State presented evidence that in 1998. Hodges had pushed a Phyllis Neidhardt and taken her purse, injuring her shoulder in the process (13 T 2409). He was convicted of robbery in Ohio and sentenced to

prison. He was released in December 2001 and was on parole at the time of the Belanger murder (13 T 2141-13).

In September, 2003, Hodges broke into Taurus Lewis' house. Lewis grabbed a hammer, and the pair left the house and fell into the backyard. Lewis hit him with the hammer a few times, and Hodges, who brandished a knife, told him he was "gonna cut you. I'm gonna kill you." (13 T 2426-27). Instead, he fled. He was eventually convicted in Escambia County of aggravated assault by threat in October 2007 (13 T 2418).

At the time of the Belanger homicide, Hodges was 41 years old (1 R 137). He had six brothers and a sister (13 T 2439). Born and raised in a two-room house in Epps, Alabama, he attended segregated schools (13 T 2441).⁴ He never graduated from high school, and only one of his siblings did (13 T 2443-44). He left home when he was 13 years old (13 T 2465). Until then, he and at least two of his siblings were in special education classes at school (13 T 2467).

Hodges' parent drank and argued a lot. When the defendant was 13 years his stepfather tried to beat his mother, but she shot him in the groin (13 T 2445-46). Later, she and one of his sisters were killed in a car crash (13 T 2449). Another had mental problems and was institutionalized (13 T 2455).

⁴ When the boys and girls got older, the washroom was converted into a bedroom (13 T 2441).

D. Mental Retardation

Before trial, Hodges claimed that he was mentally retarded, and both he and the State presented evidence then and at the penalty phase of his trial to support or refute that claim.

Pretrial evidence. At the pretrial hearing on Hodges' motion to prevent execution because he was mentally retarded, the defendant presented the testimony of Dr. Brett Turner, a psychologist, who examined him, and concluded that he had a "full scale" IQ of 62, had poor adaptive functioning, and thus was mentally retarded (1 R 174, 176).

Dr. Lawrence Gilgun, another psychologist, also testified that he had examined Hodges, and he found the defendant had an IQ of 69 and was mentally retarded (1 R 198, 221-222).

After that hearing, the State gave him several letters Hodges had allegedly written or dictated while in jail, which he reviewed (2 R 236). The court then ordered this expert to file a supplemental evaluation, and to give it to Dr. Turner (2 R 240).

Dr. Gilgun filed the evaluation, and at the later hearing on the issue of Hodges' mental retardation, he now said that Hodges was not mentally retarded because he had nonretarded adaptive functioning (2 R 384).

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: In Arbaleaz v. State, 898 So.2d 25, 43 (Fla. 2005), this Court clearly said that defendants facing a death sentence had no constitutional right to have the jury determine if he or she were mentally retarded. In reaching that conclusion, it cited Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2002). This Court's rationale for refusing to apply the United States Supreme Court's ruling in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) hinged on the observation that the national high court never remanded Bottoson to this Court to review in light of its ruling in Ring. It concluded that it would have done so if it believed Ring had an impact on Florida's death sentencing statute, Section 921.141, Florida Statutes. Because that court had approved it repeatedly over the last quarter century and simply denied Bottoson's petition for certiorari without any directions, the state's death penalty scheme must still pass constitutional muster.

While only a plurality of this Court accepted that justification for denying Bottoson and subsequent death penalty defendants any relief under Ring, Hodges argues that that rationale has no application to his case. It does not because the U.S. Supreme Court has not said once, much less repeatedly, that §921.137 Florida Statutes, Florida's statute prohibiting the execution of the mentally retarded, like §921.141, is constitutional. Thus, the rationale for denying Bottoson relief is inapplicable to defendant's claiming to be mentally retarded. This also means that

this Court should re-examine <u>Arbelaez</u> and conclude that <u>Bottoson</u> and its rationale has no application to this issue.

ISSUE II: Before trial, the court held a lengthy hearing to determine whether Hodges was mentally retarded. Dr. Brett Turner and Dr. Lawrence Gilgun, experts called on the matter, found that he had an IQ between 62 and 69. They also initially agreed he was mentally retarded. Not satisfied with those findings, the State gave them a box of additional materials, specifically including some romantic letters the defendant had allegedly written to Jenny Luke, a Cincinnati Police homicide investigator and four cassettes worth of conversations he had had with her while he was in jail. After reviewing this material, Dr. Turner maintained his opinion that Hodges was mentally retarded, but Dr. Gilgun now found that the defendant had no adaptive deficits, which is one of the elements of the definition of mental retardation. In reaching that conclusion, he relied on the results of the Vineland Adaptive Behaviors Scale that he gave to two women, Bonnie Chandler and Tamar Wolf, who had lived with Hodges years earlier. In every measured area of that assessment, Chandler rated him either mildly or moderately retarded. Wolf, on the other hand, found him average or above average. Ignoring Chandler's report, Dr. Gilgun accepted Wolf's assessment and concluded the defendant had no adaptive deficits.

The court found his conclusion more credible than Dr. Turner's, and it therefore found Hodges not mentally retarded.

But relying almost exclusively on what Wolf had to say was error. First, she had not lived with the defendant for at least five years, so what she had to say was very much out of date or stale. Second, she had lived with him for only five months, so it is questionable that she was reliable and had seen the defendant in several different settings. She also had an obvious bias or resentment against him because she had caught him cheating on her, and he had stolen some items of sentimental value from her.

Thus, rather than getting current assessments of Hodges' adaptive skills from many reliable observers such as school teachers and parents, Gilgun relied on the biased report of a woman who had not seen the defendant for many years.

Using her report was error, and the court compounded that mistake in its order finding Hodges not mentally retarded by itself making findings of fact that only an expert could make. That is, the court became an expert on mental retardation, and in doing so, it displayed its ignorance of that intellectual disability.

That is, the definition of mental retardation requires a defendant to have deficits in adaptive behavior. This does not mean that in every conceivable measure of the defendant's behavior he or she must be significantly deficient.

Indeed, in many or most of them they can behave as normal people. Depending on

the test used, they need to have significant deficits in adaptive behavior in only a small number of measured areas. The court, in its order, listed many of the things that Hodges can do, which misses the point. A mentally retarded person could drive a car, dress well, testify at hearings, and use a credit card. He or she is mentally retarded, however, because in other areas they have significant adaptive deficits. And in this case, the evidence, which the court ignored, shows that Hodges also had significant adaptive behavioral deficits.

Thus, the court erred in finding Hodges not mentally retarded.

ISSUE III. The State, according to the recently adopted Rule 3.381, Fla. R. Crim. P., had the initial and rebuttal closing arguments. During its first argument, it made no mention of the <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence it had presented as part of its case in chief. Defense counsel, before he started his closing argument, noted that, and told the court that not only did he <u>not</u> intend to discuss that evidence during his closing he objected to the State doing so, for the first time, during its rebuttal closing. The court, however, allowed the prosecutor to argue this evidence, and in light of that ruling, Hodges was forced to discuss it as part of his closing, as did the State in its final closing argument

That court erred in allowing the State to discuss the <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence for the first time in its final closing argument because the law clearly prohibits a party from raising, for the first time, an argument in its final closing argument that

it had not mentioned in its initial closing. Rebuttal closings are for just that: to rebut arguments made by the defendant during his or her closing, and it is patently unfair and an exaltation of gamesmanship over justice to allow the prosecutor to argue an extraordinarily corrosive issue without ever allowing the defense an opportunity to challenge it.

ISSUE IV. The State admitted, as collateral crimes or Williams Rule evidence, proof that Hodges had killed a LaVerne Jansen in Cincinnati in 2003, two years after the Belanger homicide. While the court correctly allowed this proof, the State presented so many of the details of the murder, the crime scene investigation, the DNA evidence, the victim's bank account statements, videos of her doing business with the bank, the 911 call, the police response to it, and the medical examiner's testimony, that this trial within a trial became a feature of Hodge' trial for Ms. Belanger's murder. What makes the prejudice particularly strong is that in its final closing argument, the prosecutor emphasized this evidence and made it a feature or prominent part of its exhortation to the jury.

ISSUE V. Hodges sought to waive the penalty phase jury, as was his right, but the court refused to let him do so. Although a court has discretion in allowing him to do that, that freedom ends when the defendant intelligently and voluntarily has waived his right to a jury recommendation. Once he or she has done so, as Hodges did in this case, the court must grant his request. At that point, it has no

discretion, and in this case that is especially true because the court, for no apparent or articulated reason, simply denied Hodges's request. That was error.

Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), in Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 123 S. Ct. 662 (2002), and King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002), cert denied, 123 S. Ct. 657 (2002). Because Ring was an "intervening development of the law" this Court could determine its affects on Florida's death penalty scheme without incurring the wrath of the United States Supreme Court, as this Court was leery of doing in those two state cases. When it conducts that examination, this Court should conclude that Ring requires at least unanimous jury recommendations of death. This Court should also find that even though the defendant may have a single valid aggravator, Ring still has relevance to the constitutionality of his death sentence.

V. ARGUMENT

ISSUE I:

THE COURT FUNDAMENTALLY ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO ALLOW THE JURY TO DETERMINE IF HODGES WAS MENTALLY RETARDED, A VIOLATION OF HIS SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

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