IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE HODGES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-468

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>: This claim may be denied for two reasons. One, the issue is not preserved. Hodges made no claim, below, that he was entitled to a jury determination of whether he is mentally retarded. This claim may also be denied on the merits. This Court has already held, on several occasions, that a defendant seeking exemption from execution on the basis of mental retardation has no right to a jury determination of whether he is mentally retarded.

There is competent substantial evidence supporting ISSUE II: the trial judge's determination that Hodges is not mentally retarded. Among other things, to be diagnosed mentally retarded, Hodges must show significant limitations in adaptive functioning in at least two of the following areas: communication, self-care, home living, and social/interpersonal skills, use of community resources, self-direction, functional academic skills, work, leisure, health, and safety. Hodges failed to meet his burden. Evidence adduced at the mental retardation hearings established that Hodges supported himself and successfully lived alone for periods of time when he was not incarcerated.

Hodges cooked for himself, bought groceries, maintained personal hygiene, and washed and ironed his own clothes. Hodges used both cash and credit to make personal and work purchases

and exercised independent judgment in shopping for clothes. Hodges was a sharp dresser and always well-dressed.

Hodges held down various jobs including ones that required following instructions and making measurements. Hodges even worked as a *de facto* supervisor, supervising the work of seven custodial crew members at a shopping mall after hours. When Hodges did not have a job, Hodges found alternative ways to get the money he needed to live. Hodges took items from his girlfriend's home and pawned them.

Hodges had a driver's license and made car trips from Ohio to Alabama and Florida, following road signs to his destination. He made high scores on his driver's test. Hodges enrolled in a pre-GED course while in prison and was graded average or above in each area of evaluation.

Hodges knew how to, and did, utilize various community services. Hodges applied for, and received, food stamps while living in Ohio and used public transportation to travel various destinations including visits to his parole officer. There is competent substantial evidence to support the trial judge's findings that Hodges is not mentally retarded.

ISSUE III: Prior to Hodges' closing argument, and just after the State's initial closing argument, Hodges requested the trial judge to bar the State from mentioning admitted <u>Williams</u> rule evidence during their rebuttal closing argument. Hodges argued

that that if he decided not to mention the <u>Williams</u> rule evidence during his own closing argument, the State should not be able to mention it during their rebuttal argument. In light of the fact the <u>Williams</u> rule evidence was admitted to show Hodges' identity and Hodges' theory of the case was "mistaken identity", the trial judge ruled the State could argue the <u>Williams</u> rule evidence to rebut Hodges' identity argument.

The trial judge committed no error. The State introduced <u>Williams</u> rule evidence at trial as part of its case in chief to demonstrate Hodges was the person who murdered Patricia Belanger. Hodges does not dispute that the <u>Williams</u> rule evidence was properly admitted.

Hodges' entire closing argument was aimed at raising a reasonable doubt about the killer's identity. Because trial counsel argued identity during his closing argument, it was proper for the State to argue all of its evidence, including <u>Williams</u> rule evidence, to rebut Hodges' theory of mistaken identity.

ISSUE IV: The record refutes any notion that the <u>Williams</u> rule evidence became a feature of Hodges' capital trial.

ISSUE V: In Florida, a defendant may waive a penalty phase jury if the waiver is knowing and voluntary. A defendant's right to waive a penalty phase jury, however, is subject to the discretion of the trial judge. A trial judge may, in his

discretion reject a defendant's waiver of a penalty phase jury. Hodges has made no showing the trial judge abused his discretion in directing that a penalty jury hear the penalty phase case.

ISSUE VI: The United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Ring v.</u> <u>Arizona</u> does not render Hodges's sentence to death unconstitutional. At the time of the murder, Hodges was under a felony sentence of imprisonment (Ohio parole). Hodges had also been previously convicted of a violent felony. In accord with this Court's well-established precedent, <u>Ring</u> has no impact on Hodges' conviction and sentence to death.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FUNDAMENTALLY ERRED IN FAILING TO SUBMIT THE ISSUE OF MENTAL RETARDATION TO THE JURY.

In this claim, Hodges avers he was entitled, pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), to have a jury decide whether he is mentally retarded. Hodges admits the claim was not preserved. (IB 17). He also admits this Court has already decided this issue adversely to his position on appeal. (IB 17 - 18). Nonetheless, Hodges asks this Court to recede from its now wellestablished precedent that a defendant is not entitled to a jury determination on the issue of mental retardation. Arbelaez v. State, 898 So.2d 25, 43 (Fla. 2005). (IB 18). Hodges claims that in light of the legislature's "recent" prohibition of executing the mentally retarded as set forth in Section 921.137, Florida Statutes (2008), this Court should reexamine its previous decisions.

This Court should deny this claim for two reasons. First, the issue is not preserved. Hodges made no claim before the trial court that he was entitled to a jury finding on the issue of mental retardation. Although Hodges filed a motion to bar imposition of the death penalty on the grounds he was mentally retarded, Hodges made no claim he was entitled to have his jury

make that determination beyond a reasonable doubt. As Hodges failed to raise this same claim before the trial court, the claim is not preserved for appeal. *See Phillips v. State*, 894 So.2d 28, 40 (Fla. 2004).

This claim may also be denied on the merits. Hodges urges this Court to recede from <u>Arbelaez v. State</u>, 898 So.2d 25, 43 (Fla. 2005) because of recent additions to Florida's capital sentencing scheme that prohibits executing the mentally retarded.

However, after Arbelaez and well after the Florida legislature's "recent" addition to Florida's capital sentencing scheme, this Court has rejected the notion that the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ring v. Arizona mandates that the jury decided the issue of mental retardation. In Nixon v. State, 2 So.3d 137 (Fla. 2009), the defendant Nixon claimed that pursuant to Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, (2002), due process requires that a jury find beyond a reasonable doubt any facts that would make a defendant eligible for the death penalty, including the issue of mental retardation. This Court rejected Nixon's claim, noting that a defendant seeking exemption from execution on the basis of mental retardation "has no right under Ring and Atkins to a jury determination of whether he is

mentally retarded." Nixon v. State, 2 So. 3d at 145.³

Even if this Court had not already decided this issue, there is no basis for this Court to conclude that <u>Ring</u> requires that a jury determine whether a defendant is mentally retarded. The holding of <u>Ring</u> is crystallized in the following language from the Court's opinion: "If a State makes an increase in a defendant's authorized punishment contingent on the finding of a fact [other than previous convictions], that fact-no matter how the State labels it-must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt." Ring, 536 U.S. at 602, 122 S.Ct. 2428.

In Florida, the maximum punishment upon conviction for first degree murder is death. <u>Mills v. Moore</u>, 786 So.2d 532, 537-38 (Fla.2001). Accordingly, a pretrial determination by a trial judge of whether a capital defendant is mentally retarded does not, and cannot, "increase" the defendant's maximum punishment. Indeed, such a determination may only reduce the potential maximum punishment (take death off the table) if the

³ In <u>Schiro v. Smith</u>, 546 U.S. 6, 126 S.Ct. 7 (2005), the United States Supreme Court reversed and remanded an Arizona case after the 9^{th} Circuit commanded the Arizona state court to conduct a jury trial to resolve a habeas petitioner's claim he was ineligible for execution due to mental retardation. The Supreme Court determined that in <u>Atkins v. Virginia</u> that it was to be left to the states to develop the appropriate ways to adjudicate claims of mental retardation. The United States Supreme Court ruled it was error for the Ninth Circuit to preemptively require a jury trial to resolve the issue of mental retardation when the state had not yet had the opportunity to apply its chosen procedures. Schiro v. Smith, 546 U.S. at 7-8.

trial judge determines the defendant is mentally retarded. <u>Ring</u> is not implicated if a judicial finding of fact may decrease but not increase a defendant's authorized punishment. In accord with this Court's now well established precedent, this Court should reject Hodge's first claim on appeal.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT HODGES IS NOT MENTALLY RETARDED.

A. Standard of Review

On appeal, this Court reviews a trial judge's decision for competent substantial evidence. <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 959 So.2d 702, 712 (Fla.2007) ("In reviewing mental retardation determinations in previous cases, we have employed the standard of whether competent, substantial evidence supported the circuit court's determination.") Under this standard of review, if there is competent substantial evidence to support the trial judge's order, this Court will not disturb the order on appeal. <u>Gore v.</u> State, --- So.3d ----, 2009 WL 1792798 (Fla. 2009).

B. Law Applicable to Mental Retardation Claims

In 2001, the Florida Legislature enacted Section 921.137, Florida Statutes. The statutes exempts the mentally retarded from the death penalty and establishes a method for determining whether capital defendants are mentally retarded. *See §* 921.137, Fla. Stat. Subsequently, this Court adopted Rule

3.203, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, in response to the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Atkins v. Virginia</u>, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 153 L.Ed.2d 335 (2002), which held it unconstitutional to execute the mentally retarded.

Pursuant to both the statute and the rule, the defendant bears the burden to prove mental retardation by establishing: (1) significantly sub-average general intellectual functioning, (2) existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior, and (3) which has manifested during the period from conception to age 18. § 921.137(1), Fla. Stat.; see also Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.203(b). In this case, the trial court concluded that Hodges failed to demonstrate deficits in adaptive functioning sufficient for a diagnosis of mental retardation. (R VI 1060-1066, 1068; R. Vol. VI 1185-1186).

In order to meet the first prong for mental retardation in Florida, the defendant must have significantly sub-average general intellectual functioning. Section 921.137(1), Florida Statutes, defines sub-average general intellectual functioning as "performance that is two or more standard deviations from the mean score on a standardized intelligence test specified in the rules of the Agency for Persons with Disabilities." This Court has consistently interpreted this definition to require a defendant seeking exemption from the death penalty to establish he has an IQ of 70 or below. Cherry v. State, 959 So.2d 702,

711 (2007)(finding that section 921.137 provides a strict cutoff of an IQ score of 70); <u>Zack v. State</u>, 911 So.2d 1190, 1201 (Fla.2005)(finding that to be exempt from execution under <u>Atkins</u>, a defendant must meet Florida's standard for mental retardation, which requires he establish that he has an IQ of 70 or below).

An IQ below 70 does not mean the defendant is mentally retarded. In addition to low IQ, defendants claiming they are exempt from execution must also show their low IQ is concurrently accompanied by deficits in adaptive behavior. <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 919 So.2d at 1252, 1266 (Fla.2005)("[L]ow IQ does not mean mental retardation. For a valid diagnosis of mental retardation ... there must also be deficits in the defendant's adaptive functioning." (quoting trial court's order)).

Adaptive functioning refers to how effectively individuals cope with common life demands and 'how well they meet the standards of personal independence expected of someone in their particular age group, sociocultural background, and community setting.'" <u>Rodriquez v. State</u>, 919 So. 2d at 1266 n. 8 (quoting American Psychiatric Association, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 42 (4th ed.2000)). To be diagnosed mentally retarded, Hodges must show "significant limitations in adaptive functioning in at least two of the following skill

areas: communication, self-care, home living, social/interpersonal skills, use of community resources, selfdirection, functional academic skills, work, leisure, health, and safety." Id.

The third prong of mental retardation is onset before age 18. <u>Phillips v. State</u>, 984 So.2d 503, 512 (Fla. 2003). In this case, the trial court did not reach the third prong of a mental retardation analysis because it found Hodges did not meet the adaptive functioning prong of mental retardation. (R Vol. VI 1185-1186).

C. The Pleadings and Hearings

On March 8, 2005, Hodges filed a motion to bar imposition of the death penalty on the grounds that Hodges was mentally retarded. Hodges named Dr. Bret Turner as his examining expert. (R Vol. I 123). The State requested, and the Court appointed, Dr. Lawrence Gilgun as a second examining expert witness. (R Vol. I 155-157). Subsequently, the trial court held a hearing over several days during 2005 and 2006.

The first day of the hearing was held on October 24, 2005. Dr. Brett Turner and Dr. Lawrence Gilgun testified at the hearing. Both Dr. Turner and Dr. Gilgun testified that IQ test results show that Hodges has an IQ below 70.

Dr. Turner told the court that he administered the WAIS III to Hodges. Hodges' full scale IQ score of 62. (R Vol. I 180).

Dr. Gilgun testified that he also administered the WAIS III. Hodges' full scale IQ was 69. (R Vol. I 198, 20).⁴ Both Dr. Turner and Dr. Gilgun opined that Hodges is mentally retarded. (R Vol. I 177-179, 198).

Although both Dr. Turner and Dr. Gilgun opined that Hodges was mentally retarded, neither Dr. Turner nor Dr. Gilgun made any attempt to determine whether Hodges' qualifying IQ score existed concurrently with significant deficits in his adaptive functioning. <u>Phillips v. State</u>, 984 So.2d 503, 511 (Fla. 2008). Indeed, the record shows that both doctors' initial evaluation of Hodges' adaptive functioning was wholly inadequate.

Dr. Turner testified he examined Hodges' school records. Remarks by teachers such as "Willie will not try. Study habits are poor. Poor attendance. No plan whatsoever. Will not try to improve himself" are pretty significant statements and shows adaptive functioning. (R Vol. I 176).

Dr. Turner did little else to evaluate Hodges' adaptive functioning. Dr. Turner not speak to any of Hodges' family members. (R Vol. I 181). Instead, he based his analysis of Hodges' adaptive functioning on what Hodges told him. (R Vol. I 181). It appeared to Dr. Turner that Hodges was able to hold jobs such as auto mechanic and construction laborer and show up

⁴ Subsequently, Dr. Gilgun administered the Stanford-Binet IQ test. Hodges' full scale IQ on the Stanford-Binet was 65. (R Vol. II 335).

for work on a day to day basis, that kind of thing. (R Vol. I 182). He did not have information that Hodges had problems in obtaining food for himself and getting employed. Dr. Turner was not aware that Hodges had a driver's license. (R Vol. I 182).

Dr. Lawrence Gilgun testified he only did a limited evaluation of Hodges' adaptive functioning. (R Vol. I 200). Dr. Gilgun did not speak to family members. He spoke only to Hodges. (R Vol. I 199).

Hodges reported that he only had labor type jobs most of his life and never received a GED. (R Vol. I 199). He dropped out of 8th grade because he was frustrated. (R Vol. I 199). Other areas of his life argue for a little better adaptive functioning. He did live alone on occasions when he was not incarcerated and was able to maintain his own home. (R Vol. I 200). Hodges was able to cook and shop for himself. He had a driver's license and at one time had his own vehicle. (R Vol. I 200).

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